IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 

DEPARTMENT OF L A W  ENFORCEMENT, 

Petitioner, 

V. 

SHARON HOUSE, 

Respondent. 

CASE NO. 87,172 

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Petitioner, the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, 

shall be referred to herein as "FDLE." Respondents, Ms. 

Sharon House, et al. , will be referred to herein as "House" 
or "Respondents." References to the record on appeal, will 

be by the use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate 

page nurnber(s). 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

House filed a complaint against the Florida Department 

of Law Enforcement ("FDLE"), in the Second Judicial Circuit, 

in and f o r  Leon County, Florida (R 1-7). Therein, House 

alleged that FDLE and the Quincy Gun & Pawnshop negligently 

participated in the sale of a firearm to House's husband, a 

convicted felon ( R  1-7). Mr. House subsequently shot and 

seriously injured Ms. House with the firearm (R 1-7). FDLE 

moved to dismiss the complaint for failure to state a cause 

of action because there was no duty of care owed to 

Appellant under Section 790.065, Florida Statutes, or the 

common law (R 9-10), House filed a memorandum of law in 

opposition to the motion to dismiss (R 11). House alleged 

that the legislature by enacting Section 790.065 intended to 

protect anyone who might come into contact with an armed 

convicted felon and that FDLE had a common law duty to 

protect them (R 13, 15). House f u r t h e r  alleged that the 

cause of action was not barred by sovereign immunity because 

the act of conducting background checks was operational, not 

discretionary (R 18). 

0 

FDLE filed a memorandum of law in support of its motion 

to dismiss, arguing that House failed to show a duty of care 

under the common law or the statute (R 2 2 ) .  FDLE argued 

that the duty to approve firearm transactions was a public 

safety or licensing f u n c t i o n ,  i.e., the clearance provided 

to the dealer was a license or permit to sell the firearm (R 

2 4 ) .  FDLE stated that the licensing and police power 
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functions of government are covered by the doctrine of 

sovereign immunity at common law (R 2 4 - 2 5 ) .  FDLE further 

argued that the statute does not create a duty of care to 

individual plaintiffs (R 26). Rather, it protects the 

public generally (R 26-27). Section 790.065(11), Florida 

Statutes, expressly provides immunity to FDLE and its 

personnel (R 2 8 ) .  

The t r i a l  court denied FDLE's motion to dismiss (R 3 0 ) .  

FDLE filed its notice of appeal to the First District 

pursuant to Dept. of Education v. Roe, 20 Fla. Law Weekly 

D686, D686-87 (Fla. 1st DCA Mar. 14, 1995) ("Roe I"). In 

that case, the First District held that it had jurisdictian 

under F1a.R.App.P. 9.130(a) over an appeal from a non-final 

order denying a motion to dismiss based on a claim of 

sovereign immunity. After FDLE filed its initial brief, the  

First District ordered FDLE to show cause why the  appeal 

should not be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. The First 

District then withdrew its decision in Roe I, and held that 

it did not  have jurisdiction over an appeal from t h e  denial 

of a motion to dismiss based on a claim of sovereign 

immunity. Dept. of Education v. Roe, 656 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 

1st DCA 1995) ("Roe 11"). 

The First District dismissed the instant appeal for 

lack of jurisdiction, noting that its decision was " i n  

c o n t r a d i c t i o n "  with Dept. of Transportation v. Wallis, 659 

So. 2d 429 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). FDLE moved for 

certification of conflict with Wallis, which the court 
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0 gran ted .  On January 1 2 ,  1 9 9 6 ,  FDLE filed a notice to invoke 

the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court ,  pursuant t o  

F1a.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi). 

I 
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STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

In her complaint, Sharon House alleged that she was at 

home with her husband, Gregory House, Sr., on June 19, 1 93 

(R 4). Mr. House retrieved a handgun from the rear of the 

home and shot her three times ( R  4). The shooting was 

unprovoked and permanently injured Ms. House ( R  4). Mr. 

House was a convicted felon and therefore he was prohibited 

from receipt or possession of a firearm pursuant to Section 

790.23, Florida Statutes (R 3 ,  5). 

Ms. House further alleged that the Quincy Gun & Pawn 

Shop sold the firearm to Mr. House shortly before the 

shooting (R 4). As a part of the transaction, Mr. House 

gave the shop his name, date of birth and social security * number ( R  4). Pursuant to Section 790.065, Florida 

Statutes, the shop provided the information to FDLE for 

purposes of a criminal history records check of Mr. House ( R  

4-5). FDLE approved Mr. House as a firearm purchaser (R 4- 

5) 

Ms. House alleged that FDLE was negligent in approving 

the sale of the firearm to Mr. House (R 5). Ms. House 

stated that Section 790.065, Florida Statutes, imposed a 

duty an FDLE to the citizens of the State generally and to 

the plaintiffs individually "to prevent the sale of firearms 

to those who might use them to injure others" (R 5). House 

alleged that plaintiffs are members of the class of persons 

contemplated by the Florida Legislature to be protected by 

enactment of Section 790.065, Florida Statutes (R 5). 0 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

ISSUE I: 

Orders rejecting claims of sovereign immunity meet the 

requirements f o r  interlocutory review under the rationale 

set forth by this court in Tucker v. Resha. Under Florida 

law, sovereign immunity is not a defense to liability, 

rather it is an immunity from suit which is effectively lost 

if a case is erroneously permitted to go to trial. An order 

determining sovereign immunity is conclusive as to that 

claim, and is separable from and collateral to the 

underlying merits of the tort action. The claim is not 

effectively reviewable on direct appeal following final 

judgment because the immunity from suit, once lost, cannot 

be recaptured when litigation erroneously proceeds. After 

direct appeal, only immunity from judgment may be protected. 

a 

The societal and personal costs of erroneously lost 

immunity in s t a t e  tort actions are indistinguishable from 

those in federal civil rights actions. The diversion of 

official energy from public issues, the deterrence of able 

citizens from acceptance of public office, and the danger 

that fear of lawsuit will deter proper performance of public 

duties are consequences which impact the state in tort 

actions to no less degree than they impact public officials 

in federal civil rights actions. When the state is sued in 

tort, public employees and officials respond to and defend 

against allegations of negligence. Under Florida law, 
0 
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public officials in federal civil rights actions are no more 

personally liable than is t h e  state or its employees or officials 

in state tort actions. 

I. 

No rationale exists for precluding review of orders 

determining immunity on a motion to dismiss when the order turns 

strictly on an issue of law. The order at issue in this case 

qualifies fo r  interlocutory review because FDLE's claim of 

sovereign immunity and the absence of any actionable duty of care 

owed to House turns strictly on issues of law which can be 

determined solely on the undisputed allegations of the Complaint. 

ISSUE 11: 

The 1989 Legislature enacted Section 790.065, Florida 

0 Statutes, to require licensed firearm dea-srs to aatain a 

criminal history records check of a potential buyer from FDLE. 

In her complaint, Ms. House contended that FDLE negligently 

informed the Quincy Gun and Pawn Shop that Mr. House was eligible 

to purchase a firearm. The trial court denied FDLE's motion to 

dismiss, erroneously finding that the suit was not barred by the 

doctrine of sovereign immunity. 

No statutory or common law du ty  af care existed to protect 

House individually rather than the public generally. House's 

complaint showed that the legislature in enacting Section 790.065 

did not intend to create a new cause of action or to waive 

sovereign immunity. House also has no t  shown a common law d u t y  

of care t o  themselves. FDLE's act of screening prospective 

firearm purchasers is a discretionary licensing and police power 

function which is immune from suit. 
- 7 -  
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ARGUMENT 

ISSUE I 

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL 
ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT IT DID NOT 
HAVE JURISDICTION TO REVIEW AN ORDER 
DENYING A MOTION TO DISMISS BASED ON A 
CLAIM OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY. 

In Tucker v. Resha, 648 So. 2d 1187 (Fla. 1994), this 

Court authorized interlocutory review of orders denying 

claims of qualified immunity in federal civil rights actions 

brought in state courts, where the order under review turns 

strictly on an issue of law. The Court directed a change in 

the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure to accommodate such 

review, and the rule is currently published for comment from 

the Bar. DOE has requested the court to consider whether 

claims of sovereign immunity in state tort actions should be e 
subject to interlocutory review on the same reasoning set 

forth in Tucker. FDLE urges this court to authorize 

interlocutory review of orders rejecting sovereign immunity 

claims f o r  the reasons set f o r t h  below. The issue presented 

in the instant case also is before this Court in DOE v.  Roe, 

Case No. 86,061. 

A .  The rationale expressed in Tucker v. 
Resha, 648 So.  2d 1187 (Fla. 1994), for 
permitting interlocutory review of 
orders rejecting public official 
qualified immunity claims applies 
equally to orders rejecting state 
sovereign immunity claims. 

Under existing Florida law, orders rejecting claims of 

sovereign immunity are not among the non-final orders 

reviewable pursuant to Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C), Florida Rules of a 
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Appellate Procedure. Paqe v. Ezell, 452 So. 2d 582 (Fla. 3d DCR 

1984); State Road Department v.  Brill, 171 So. 2d 229 (Fla. 1st 

DCA 1964); Florida Department of Hiqhway Safety v. Desmond, 568 

So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). Certiorari review of orders 

0 

rejecting sovereign immunity claims is precluded where the order 

rules on a motion to dismiss. See Martin-Johnson, I n c .  v. 

Savaqe, 509 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 1987). Certiorari review may be 

obtained to review an order rejecting a sovereign immunity claim 

asserted by motion for summary judgment, but the standard of 

review under these circumstances permits the court to consider 

only whether the order constitutes a clear departure from the 

essential requirements of the law and causes irreparable harm. 

Martin-Johnson v. Savaqe; Caribbean Treasure Salvaqe v. Sheriff, 

474 So. 2d 883 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). Certiorari relief is seldom a 
granted to quash an interlocutory order. Crocker Construction 

Co. v. Hornsby, 562 So. 2d 842  (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). 

In Tucker ,  this Court adopted as state law the standard of 

review applicable in federal courts under Mitchell v.  Forsyth, 

472 U.S. 511, 105 S.Ct. 2806, 86 L.Ed.2d 411 (1985), for review 

of public official qualified immunity claims. In concluding that 

qualified immunity claims should be appealable prior to final 

judgment under a standard of review less stringent than that 

afforded by certiorari review, this court considered the "nature 

of the rights involved," stating as follows: 

Under the qualified immunity doct r ine ,  
It government o f f i c i a l s  performing 
discretionary functions generally are 
shielded from liability f o r  civil damages 
insofar as their conduct does not violate 
clearly established statutory Or 

- 9 -  



constitutional rights of which a reasonable 
person would have known. [cite omitted] "The 
central purpose of affording public official 
qualified immunity from suit is to protect 
them "from undue interference with their 
duties and from potentially disabling threats 
of liability.'' [cites omitted] 

Consistent with this purpose, the qualified 
immunity of public officials involves 
"immunity from suit rather than a mere defense 
to liability. 'I [c i te  omitted] The 
entitlement "is effectively lost if a case is 
erroneously permitted to go to trial.'' [cite 
omitted] Furthermore, an order denying 
qualified immunity is effectively 
unreviewable on appeal from a final judgment" 
[cite omitted] as the public official cannot 
be "re-immunized" if erroneously required to 
stand trial or face the other burdens of 
litigation. 

We also note that the defendant o f f i c i a l  i s  
not the only party who suffers "consequences" 
from erroneously lost immunity. As the 
Supreme Court explained in Harlow, society as 
a whole also pays the "social costs" of "the 
expenses of litigation, the diversion of 
official energy from pressing public issues, 
and the deterrence of able citizens from 
acceptance of public office. Finally, there 
is the danger that fear of being sued will 
'dampen the ardor of all but the most 
resolute, or the most irresponsible [public 
officials], in the unflinching discharge of 
their duties. [c i te  omitted] Thus, if 
orders denying summary judgment based upon 
claims of qualified immunity are not subject 
to interlocutory review, the qualified 
immunity of public officials is illusory and 
the very policy that animates the decision to 
afford such immunity is thwarted. 

- Id., 648 So. 2d at 1189-90. 

The court in Mitchell v. Forsyth analyzed the appealability 

of pretrial orders  rejecting qualified immunity claims by 

reference to the requirements of the collateral order  doctrine, 

stating as follows: 

- l o  - 



Although 28 U . S . C  g1291 [28 USCS %1291] vests 
the courts of appeals with jurisdiction over 
appeals only from "final decisions" of the 
district courts, Ira decision 'final' within 
the meaning of g1291 does not necessarily 
mean the last order possible to be made in a 
case." [cite omitted] Thus, a decision of a 
district court is appealable if it falls 
within "that small class which finally 
determine claims of right separable from, and 
collateral to, rights asserted in the action, 
too important to be denied review and too 
independent of the cause itself to require 
that appellate consideration be deferred 
until the whole case is adiudicated." Cohen 
v. Beneficial Industrial L&n Cor., 357 U.S. 
[541,546, 9 3  L.Ed.2d 1528, 69 S.Ct. 1221 
71949) 1. 

A major characteristic of the denial or 
granting of a claim appealable under Cohen' s 
"collateral order" doctrine is that "unless 
it can be reviewed before [the proceedings 
terminate], it never can be reviewed at all." 
(cites omitted] When a district court has 
denied a defendant's claim of right not to 
stand trial, on double jeopardy grounds, for 
example, we have consistently held that 
court's decision appealable, for such a right 
cannot be effectively vindicated after the 
trial has occurred. [cite omitted] Thus, 
the denial of a substantial claim of absolute 
immunity is an order appealable before final 
judgment, for the essence of absolute 
immunity is its possess~r's entitlement not 
to have to answer for his conduct in a civil 
damages action. [cite omitted]. 

' I  Id 472 U.S. at 524-525, 86 L.Ed.2d at 424. 

In determining that a claim of qualified immunity, like 

absolute governmental immunity, should be subject to 

interlocutory appeal, the Mitchell Court first considered whether 

qualified immunity constituted a legitimate entitlement not to 

stand trial, and whether an order denying a claim of s u c h  

immunity effectively was unreviewable on appeal from a final 

judgment. Concluding that qualified immunity met these 0 
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requirements, the Court proceeded to consider whether an order 

rejecting a qualified immunity claim was conclusive, and whether 
0 

such a claim involved a right separable from, and collateral to, 

rights asserted in the underlying action. The Court concluded 

that a claim of qualified immunity also met these requirements. 

On the basis of the Cohen collateral order doctrine 

requirements, federal courts permit interlocutory review of 

orders determining a wide variety of immunity claims. Thus, 

immediate review is permitted not only of orders determining 

absolute and qualified immunity, Mitchell v. Forsyth, but also 

Eleventh Amendment state immunity, Puerto Rico Aqueduct and Sewer 

Authority v. Metcalf 506 U.S. -, 121 L.Ed.2d 605, 113 S.Ct. 684 

(1993); Schopler v. B l i s s ,  9 0 3  F.2d. 1373 (11th Cir. 1990), 

prosecutorial and judicial immunity, Harris v.  Deveaus, 780 F.2d 

911 (11th C i r .  1986); Schrob v. Catterson, 948 F.2d 1402 (3d DCA 

1991); foreign sovereign immunity, Seqni  v. Commercial office of 

Spain, 816 F.2d 344 (7th Cir. 1987); Princz v. Federal Republic 

of Germany, 998 F.2d 1 (C.A.D.C. 1993); Speech and Debate Clause 

hmunity, U.S. v. Rose, 28 F.3d 181 (C.A.D.C. 1994); McSurely v. 

McClellan, 521 F.2d 1024 (C.A.D.C. 1975), state action doctrine 

immunity in antitrust cases, Commuter Transp. Systems, Inc. v. 

Hillsboroush Cty. Av. Auth., 801 F.2d 1286 (11th Cir. 

1986)(purpose of state action doctrine is to avoid needless waste 

of public time and money), and immunity claims under state and 

territorial sovereign immunity laws, Marx v. Guam, 866 F . 2 d  294 

(9th Cir. 1989)(interlocutory appeal from denial of motion to 

dismiss premised on Guam's sovereign immunity law); Napolitano v. 0 
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Flynn, 949 F.2d 617 (2nd Cir. 1991)(applying state sovereign 

immunity law in diversity action). 
0 

Federal courts have precluded interlocutory review of orders 

determining immunity when the claim did not entail an entitlement 

no t  to stand trial. See Van Cauwenberqhe v. Biard, 486 U.S. 517, 

100 L.Ed.2d 517, 108 S.Ct. 1945 (1988)(rules pertaining to 

service and personal jurisdiction are designed to protect against 

entry of a binding judgment, not to protect against the burdens 

of trial); Manion v. Evans, 986 F.2d 1036 (6th Cir. 

1993)(immunity claim of peer review committee members not subject 

to interlocutory review because the Health Care Quality 

Improvement Act does no t  provide immunity from suit); Lauro Lines 

S.R.L. v .  Chasser, 109 S.Ct. 1976 (1989)(forum selection clause 

in a cruise line ticket asserted entitlement to be sued in a 0 
particular forum, not an entitlement to avoid suit). 

Interlocutory review of immunity claims has played an 

important role in federal courts. A survey of 134 published 

opinions involving civil rights immunity claims in the federal 

circuit courts in 1987, 1988 and 1989 revealed that only 31 

district court orders rejecting immunity claims were affirmed in 

the appeals courts. The 70 percent reversal rate, five times the 

ordinary reversal rate for all appeals of final decisions on the 

merits, has been thought to reflect the uncertainty and 

continuing evolution of civil rights immunity law, and to 

underscore the appropriateness of affording interlocutory appeal. 

Solimine, "Revitalizinq Interlocutory Appeals in the Federal 

Courts, 58 Geo.Wash.L.Rev. 1165,1189-91. 0 
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While there have been concerns in the federal courts 

regarding increased caseloads as a result of interlocutory 

appeals of orders determining immunity claims, there is evidence 

to suggest that an increase in interlocutory appeals may decrease 

t h e  overall federal appellate caseload by expediting and 

shortening the resolution of trial court cases, encouraging 

settlement of more cases, and therefore reducing the number of 

appeals from final judgment. Solimine, 58 Geo.Wash.L.Rev. at 

1178 

Under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.130(a)(3)(A), 

the state is entitled to immediate review of orders determining 

venue in tort and other actions. See e.q. Department of 

Transportation v. Lopez, 415 So. 2d 116 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); 

Department of Labor and Employment Security v. Summit Consulting, 

Inc., 594 So. 2d 862 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); School Board of Osceola 

County v.  James E. Rose Mechanical Contrac tors ,  Inc . ,  604 So. 2d 

521 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). There is no evidence that appellate 

courts have suffered a deluge of interlocutory appeals from 

orders erroneously determining venue, In the absence of a 

quantifiable "opening of the floodgate," it can be presumed that 

the right to interlocutory appeal in this context has served to 

clarify venue law and encourage trial courts to adhere to that 

law. The right to immediate appeal of orders determining 

sovereign immunity claims rationally would have the same salutory 

effect upon both t h e  evolution of the law toward greater 

0 

certainty, and intensified scrutiny and consideration by the 

0 trial courts of state sovereign immunity claims. Finally, it 



I 

should be noted that when the state possesses a viable sovereign 

immunity claim, it will with certainty appeal from an adverse 

final judgment to seek review of that claim. Thus, affording the 

0 

right to interlocutory appeal of pretrial orders determining 

immunity, where the orders turns on an issue of law, cannot be 

viewed as increasing the overall caseload of the state's 

appellate courts. Rather, as noted abave, the right to 

interlocutory appeal of orders determining immunity claims 

rationally should have the effect of decreasing the work of both 

trial and appellate courts. Under Tucker and Mitchell, the 

critical inquiry in determining the right to interlocutory appeal 

is whether the immunity claim is soundly premised on a protection 

from trial, rather than a mere defense to liability. Sovereign

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