IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT,

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

POINT I: The gravamen of the FDLE's position is, essentially, that qualified immunity is just like sovereign immunity, i.e., they are too busy and important to be bothered litigating with the destitute mother of three children, left jobless, disabled, and in poverty due to FDLE's negligence and carelessness. FDLE (with good reason) does not want actual litigation of the facts, because they are bad facts. To allow them to hide behind the false shield of sovereign immunity, while using an unrelated <u>qualified immunity</u> case to bolster their position, compounds bad facts -- it makes bad facts law. The waiver of sovereign immunity, so well briefed by respondent SBJM, and the law of those cases, clearly establishes that when the state makes a terrible mistake like this, and a member of the class intended to be protected suffers damaged, then they will answer for it. FDLE doesn't want to bother with being sued, because it inconveniences government and interferes with government employees doing their jobs! <u>A</u> fortiori, had they been <u>doing</u> their jobs, we wouldn't be here. However, it hardly makes any sense at all that they can escape even standing trial for their negligence!

Further, that position is contrary to law. For example, <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1994) does not create law regarding interlocutory review of orders denying motions to dismiss based upon sovereign immunity. Sovereign immunity is not an absolute immunity, and the State of Florida has consented to suit in its own courts pursuant to Section 768.28, Florida Statutes. Sovereign immunity in Florida is immunity from liability or the payment of damages. Sovereign immunity in Florida is not immunity from suit. **POINT II:** As stated and briefed by respondent SBJM, there is no overriding public policy requiring modification of the "Final Judgment Rule," to allow for interlocutory review of orders denying motions to dismiss based upon sovereign immunity.

ISSUE II

POINT I: It is not possible to conclude, at this juncture, that FDLE is immune from suit. This sovereign immunity issue is fact sensitive and cannot be resolved as a matter of law at this time.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

Whether the First District Court of Appeal erred in determining that it did not have jurisdiction to review an order denying a motion to dismiss based on a claim of sovereign immunity.

<u>POINT I</u>

Interlocutory review of an order denying a motion to dismiss based upon the defense of a sovereign immunity is not permissible. The First District did not err in determining that it lacked jurisdiction to review an order denying a motion to dismiss based on the defense of sovereign immunity.

This matter was originally before the First District Court on Respondent FDLE's Notice of Appeal (A 12-14). This was a notice of appeal concerning denial of a motion to dismiss, based on sovereign immunity. The trial court denial of Petitioner FDLE's motion to dismiss based upon the defense of sovereign immunity could be reached on plenary appeal, not as an interlocutory proceeding.

Denial of a motion to dismiss is <u>not</u> one of the enumerated non-final orders set forth in Rule 9.130, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, and which qualify for interlocutory review. An order denying a motion to dismiss based upon the defense of sovereign immunity is not a proper subject for interlocutory appeal in this state. <u>Page v. Ezell</u>, 452 So.2d 582 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); <u>State Road Department v. Brill</u>, 171 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Accord, <u>Florida Dept. of</u> <u>Highway Safety v. Desmond</u>, 568 So.2d 1354 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990).

Tucker relies upon, most notably, Mitchell v. Forsyth, 472 U.S. 511, 105 S.Ct. 2806, 86

L.Ed.2d 411 (1986), and (implicitly) <u>Cohen v. Beneficial Industrial Loan Corp.</u>, 337 U.S. 541, 69 S.Ct. 1221, 93 L.Ed.2d 1258 (1949). These cases do not support the FDLE position.

The certified question reached and answered by this Court in <u>Tucker v. Resha</u> was the following:

Is a public official asserting qualified immunity as a defense to a federal civil rights claim entitled in the Florida Courts to the same standard of review of denial of her motion for summary judgment as is available in federal court?

648 So.2d at 1187. That question was answered in the affirmative. The case at bar has nothing at

all to do with qualified immunity or summary judgment!

Cohen v. Beneficial Loan Corp., 337 U.S. 541, 69 S.Ct. 1221, 93 L.Ed 1528 (1949),

created the "collateral order doctrine," which allows interlocutory appeals from:

a small class [of orders] which finally determine claims of rights separable from, and collateral to, rights asserted in the action, too important to be denied review and too independent of the cause itself.

Cohen at 337 U.S. 546. The doctrine applies only to:

those district court decisions [1] that are conclusive, [2] that resolve important questions completely separate from the merits, and [3] that would render such important questions effectively unreviewable on appeal from final judgment in the underlying action.

Both Tucker and Mitchell relied heavily on the principle that qualified immunity of public

officials involves "immunity from suit rather than a mere defense to liability." Mitchell at 472

U.S. 526; <u>Tucker</u> at 648 So.2d 1189. Since the right not to be sued would be thus unreviewable

on appeal the third requirement of the Cohen analysis is met.

The question is, does sovereign immunity involve "immunity from suit" or "a mere defense to liability."

* The United States Court of Appeals considered this issue in <u>Pullman Construction</u> <u>Industries. Inc. v. United States</u>, 23 F.3d 1166 (7th Cir. 1994). In that case, the government argued that:

> an opinion denying a motion asserting the sovereign immunity of the United States may be appealed as a collateral order under a series of cases permitting interlocutory appeal when the defendant asserts a "right not to be sued."

<u>Id</u>. at 1167.

In analyzing whether the collateral order doctrine applied to federal sovereign immunity,

the Court noted "the newfangled nature of the doctrine permitting appeals based on claims of

rights to be free from litigation." Id. at 1168 (emphasis added).

The Court then rhetorically asked, "Does the word 'immunity' in 'sovereign immunity'

itself support interlocutory appeal?" Id. at 1169. And the Court's answer to its own question

was, "Surely not." Id. at 1169. Explaining, the Court said,

Sometimes the word connotes a right not to be tried, which must be vindicated promptly. Sometimes the word means only a right to prevail at trial -- a right to win, indistinguishable from all the other reasons why a party may not have to pay damages. Confusing the two would undermine the final decision requirement.

Id. at 1169 (emphasis in original).

* This section was argued by counsel for Roe, Thomas Powell, in the Roe answer brief in case #86,061, filed in January, 1996, and is excerpted therefrom.

The Court noted that, "Only an 'explicit statutory or constitutional guarantee that trial will not occur' creates the sort of right that supports immediate review." Id. at 1169, quoting from <u>Midland Asphalt Corp. v. United States</u>, 489 U.S. 794, 801, 109 S.Ct. 1494, 1499, 102 L.Ed.2d 879 (1989). The Court observed that, "Congress has consented to litigation in federal court seeking equitable relief from the United States," and "in limited circumstances to litigation seeking money." Id. at 1168. The Court went on to point out that

> The United States Code is riddled with statutes authorizing relief against the United States and its agencies -- the Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2671-80; the Tucker Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1346(a), 1491(a); the whole jurisdiction of the Court of Federal Claims, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1491-1509; dozens if not hundreds of sue-and-be-sued clauses; the list can be extended without much effort.

<u>Id</u>. at 1168.

In analyzing the difference between the "right not to be sued" and "the right to prevail," the Court compared federal sovereign immunity with other immunities, such as that granted by the Eleventh Amendment, saying, "the very object and purpose of the Eleventh Amendment were to prevent the indignity of subjecting a State to the coercive power of judicial tribunals at the instance of private parties." Id. at 1169, quoting from In re Avers, 123 U.S. 443, 505, 8 S.Ct. 164, 182, 31 L.Ed. 216 (1887). Contrasting federal sovereign immunity, the Court said, "We have demonstrated that the Congress, on behalf of the United States, has surrendered any comparable right not to be a litigant in its own courts." Id. at 1169.

Accordingly, the Court dismissed the government's attempted interlocutory appeal "for

want of jurisdiction." Id. at 1170.

The analysis of federal sovereign immunity by the Court of Appeals applies equally to the sovereign immunity of the State of Florida. At the risk of stating the obvious, Florida has "surrendered any . . . right not to be a litigant in its own courts."

The Florida Statutes are "riddled with statutes authorizing relief against" the State of Florida and its agencies. Such statutes include general tort claims (F.S. 768.28); civil rights violations (F.S. 760.11); taxpayer actions (F.S. 213.015); damage to underground utilities (F.S. 556.106); suits against Spaceport Florida Authority (F.S. 331.328); pollution of waters (F.S. 387.10); and suits against solid waste management facilities (F.S. 403.706).

In <u>State of Alaska v. United States</u>, 64 F.3d 1352 (9th Cir. 1995), a different federal appeals court considered whether federal sovereign immunity is subject to the collateral order doctrine. The Court began its analysis by observing that:

At first glance, federal sovereign immunity seems to fit comfortably among the types of immunities for which immediate appeal is appropriate. In <u>Digital Equipment</u>, the Supreme Court observed that "orders denying certain immunities are strong candidates for prompt appeal under § 1291." U.S. , 114 S.Ct. at 1998. This is because certain immunities are more likely to meet the third prong of the <u>Cohen</u> analysis: where the immunity guarantees a "right not to stand trial," that right may be "irretrievably lost" if immediate review is not available. The Supreme Court in <u>Digital Equipment</u> hastened to add, however, that "a party's ability to characterize a district court's decision as denying an irreparable 'right not to stand trial' altogether is [not] sufficient . . . for a collateral order appeal," because virtually every right or procedural step that can be enforced by pretrial dismissal could be characterized as a right not to stand trial.

<u>Id</u>. at 1355.

The appeals court then went on to hold that "despite the label 'immunity' federal immunity

is not best characterized as a 'right not to stand trial altogether."" Id. Explaining this conclusion,

the Court said:

Federal sovereign immunity does not implicate the sovereign concerns that motivate immediate appeal of orders denying Eleventh Amendment immunity or foreign sovereign immunity. Likewise, denial of federal sovereign immunity need not be reviewed with the same urgency as the denial of official immunity or double jeopardy claims. The interest served by federal sovereign immunity (the United States' freedom from paying damages without Congressional consent) may be served equally well if review follows a final judgment on the merits.

<u>Id</u>.

As did the Pullman court, the Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit found that:

Federal sovereign immunity is readily distinguishable from the states' immunity under the Eleventh Amendment and foreign governments' under the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act. The latter two doctrines allow one sovereign entity the right to avoid, altogether, being subjected to litigation in another sovereign's courts. [Citation omitted.] Similar sovereignty concerns are not implicated by the maintenance of suit against the United States in federal court.

Id. at 1355, 1356.

The Alaska court rejected the government's argument that its claim of sovereign immunity

would be "effectively unreviewable" at a later point, saying

The only foreseeable hardship inflicted on the United States by postponing review of sovereign immunity issues is the need to prepare for trials. That hardship alone is generally not sufficient to justify immediate appeal

Id. at 1356, 1367.

As the Supreme Court pointed out in Van Cauwenberge v. Biard, 486 U.S. 517, 524, 108

S.Ct. 1945, 100 L.Ed.2d 517 (1988):

Admittedly, there is value ... in triumphing before trial, rather than after it, regardless of the substance of the winning claim. But this truism is not to be confused with the quite distinct proposition that certain claims (because of the substance of the rights entailed, rather than the advantage of a litigant in winning his claim sooner) should be resolved before trial.

The Seventh Circuit concluded that the substance of the rights entailed

... is not urgent in the context of claims of federal sovereign immunity. In this respect, claims of sovereign immunity contrast sharply with claims of double jeopardy or official immunity. In the latter type of cases, the judicial inquiry itself, rather than just a merits judgment, causes the disruption that the doctrine of immunity was designed to prevent. [Citations omitted.] The concept of qualified immunity is animated by concern about the burden of discovery and the need for government officials to act "with independence and without fear of consequences." [Citations omitted.] Immediate appeals are permitted because if officials were unable to obtain prompt review of denials of qualified immunity, the substance of the immunity would be lost. That concern is not the foundation of federal sovereign immunity. Suits that, for a technical reason, do not satisfy the strict requirements of statutes waiving sovereign immunity are no more fundamentally burdensome or disruptive than suits that do not satisfy those requirements.

The denial of federal sovereign immunity, we conclude, imposes no hardship on the United States than is qualitatively different from, or weightier than, the hardship imposed by the denial of such defenses as the statute of limitations or *res judicata*, both of which have been held to be effectively reviewable following trial.

Alaska v. U.S., supra, at 1357 (emphasis added).

The analysis of federal sovereign immunity by two federal Circuit Courts of Appeals

applies equally to the analysis of Florida's state sovereign immunity. First, an order denying

sovereign immunity does not meet the three-part Cohen test for the "collateral order doctrine"

because state sovereign immunity, having been broadly waived, does not constitute absolute

freedom from suit, but merely a limitation on suit based on the factual circumstances of the case. Second, the "hardship" inflicted on the state by postponing review of sovereign immunity issues is not significant. As the Supreme Court said, "the mere identification of some interest that would be 'irretrievably lost' has never sufficed to meet the third <u>Cohen</u> requirement. <u>Digital Equipment</u>,

U.S. at _____, 114 S.Ct. at 1998. The interest that would be lost must also be "weightier than the societal interests advanced by the ordinary operation of final judgment principles." Id. at _____, ____, 114 S.Ct. at 2001, 2002. "No such weighty interest is presented in orders denying sovereign immunity." Alaska v. U.S., supra, at 1356.

Thus, the specific issue raised by FDLE in this matter has been reached by other courts. The consensus is that the nature of orders denying motions to dismiss on the basis of sovereign immunity are so far theoretically removed from orders denying review on other theories as to be inapplicable here. Further, <u>Pullman</u> is directly analogous to the present case. The State of Florida has consented to a limited waiver of sovereign immunity by enacting Section 768.28, Florida Statutes. Surely the state is no stranger to litigation in its own courts. There is nothing in the clear and ambiguous language of Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, which even remotely suggests that sovereign immunity is a right to be free from suit¹ as opposed to a right to prevail at trial. Instead, the sovereign immunity law specifies that such immunity is a right to be free from <u>liability</u> as opposed to a freedom from suit. Section 768.28 states the following:

(1) In accordance with s. 13, Art. X, State Constitution, the state, for itself and for its agencies or subdivisions, hereby <u>waives</u> sovereign immunity for liability for torts, but only to the extent

¹FDLE asserts that sovereign immunity claims under Florida law "unquestionably are premised upon a right not to stand trial." (Petitioner's Brief, p. 15.) FDLE cannot follow this assertion with a single reference to even one Florida appellate decision on point.

specified in this act. [Emphasis added.]

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